SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### NO. 82,147

# J.B. AND J.W.B. INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF THEIR MINOR CHILDREN, S.B. AND E.B. AND M.B., INDIVIDUALLY Appellants

### VERSUS

## SACRED HEART HOSPITAL OF PENSACOLA Appellee

# ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES 11TH CIRCUIT COURT OF APPEALS

CIRCUIT NO. 92-2053

## **INITIAL BRIEF ON BEHALF OF APPELLANTS**

Charles J. Ballay (#2719) Adrian A. Colon, Jr. (#20525) Ballay & Braud 513 Belle Chasse Highway Belle Chasse, LA 70037 (504) 394-9841 Counsel for Appellants

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## I. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

J.B., his wife, J.W.B., and their children, S.B., E.B. and M.B., have brought the instant matter against Sacred Heart Hospital of Pensacola, herein referred to as "Hospital", as a result of J.B. contracting the AIDS virus due to the hospital's negligent failure to adequately warn him that his brother, L.B., was suffering from an extremely contagious illness, namely the AIDS virus, which could be transmitted by exposure to L.B.'s bodily fluids. At the time of the hospital's negligence, J. B. was a third-party, non-patient who was solicited by the Hospital to transport his patient-brother by private vehicle from the appellee hospital to a hospital in Birmingham, Alabama. The U.S. District Court's jurisdiction was invoked pursuant to diversity of citizenship and exceeding the jurisdictional amount in controversy, 28 U.S.C. Section 1332.

In June, 1991, Appellee filed a Motion to Dismiss based on several alternative grounds, one being that J.B.'s complaint of tortious conduct actually falls under Florida Medical Malpractice Law which requires a pre-suit screening before a medical review board. Based on these contentions, on December 17, 1991, an Order granting the hospital's Motion to Dismiss was entered in the record.

For purposes of the Order, the District Court considered only the application of Florida's Medical Malpractice Statutes to the plaintiff's claim in this case. Since the *Silva* case had not yet been decided, the Court recognized that there were no reported cases that addressed the specific issue and concluded that the plaintiff's claim was controlled by the Florida Medical Malpractice law, Chapter 766 of the Florida Statutes.

Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal of the Order on January 16, 1992. On appeal, Appellants contest the District Court's conclusion that the cause of action of J.B., a nonpatient of the hospital, falls under the Florida Medical Malpractice Statutes. After briefs had been exchanged, this matter was argued before the U.S. 11th Circuit Court of Appeals on April 21, 1993. Subsequently, the 11th Circuit has certified the following two questions to the Supreme Court of Florida which are determinative of the cause in this matter:

1) Does a Complaint which alleges injuries to the brother of a hospital patient allegedly arising out of the defendant hospital's failure to warn the plaintiff brother of the patient's infectious disease, failure to properly instruct the plaintiff regarding transportation of the patient, and negligently using the non-patient brother as a transporter for the patient fall within Fla. Stat. Sect. 95.11(4)(b), the two year statute of limitations for medical malpractice actions?

2) Does Chapter 766 of the Florida Statutes apply to such a cause of action?

### II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

J.B. and L.B. were brothers. In April, 1989, L.B., a diagnosed AIDS patient, was a patient of the Sacred Heart Hospital of Pensacola. The medical staff at Sacred Heart subsequently requested that he be transferred from the defendant facility to another facility in Birmingham, Alabama. When a hospital social worker, in her capacity as an employee of the appellee hospital, discovered that she was unable to secure payment for an ambulance from L.B.'s insurance, she contacted J.B. in Mississippi to provide transportation for his brother to the other facility. Despite L.B.'s serious condition, no suggestions regarding the family paying for an ambulance or alternative methods of funding the ambulance trip were pursued by the hospital.

On April 18, 1989, J.B., upon the request of the hospital, left his Gulfport, Mississippi, home to transport his brother from the Pensacola hospital. Although the physician had ordered the I.V. to be removed from L.B.'s arm before discharge, L.B. was placed into the appellant's car by the employees of the Sacred Heart Hospital with high fever and the Heparin Lock of the I.V. still in his arm. Notwithstanding that an ambulance's paramedics/E.M.T.s would have been notified of L.B.'s AIDS diagnosis on the "need to know exception" to the Florida confidentiality statute, J.B. was <u>never informed</u> by the Sacred Heart Hospital that L.B. was suffering from an extremely contagious blood disorder, much less that he had the AIDS virus. The hospital knew of J.B.'s potential exposure to the virus as evidenced by the nurses giving him a five minute lesson on the care of I.V. sites.

During the trip to the Birmingham hospital, L.B. began to thrash about and accidentally disturbed the dressing of the Heparin Lock. In an attempt to prevent the Lock from dislodging, J.B. came in contact with fluid (blood) that originated from the I.V. site. Had the Lock been removed as the doctor had ordered, the source of contact with the known contagious bodily fluid, namely blood, would have been eliminated. The fluid subsequently came in contact with multiple cuts that J.B. had received on a recent fishing trip and, approximately four months later, he consequently was diagnosed with the AIDS virus stemming from his contact with L.B. Again, J.B. was <u>never informed</u> by Sacred Heart Hospital that their patient, L.B., was infected with an extremely contagious illness, namely the AIDS virus. In addition, J.B. never received any type of diagnosis, treatment or care from the defendant hospital.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Appellants submit that their cause of action is not controlled by Chapter 766 of the Florida Statutes, the Medical Malpractice Statute, but by the principles of ordinary negligence. As set out in the applicable statutes and cited jurisprudence, the appellant must have some type of direct "privity" with the appellee health care provider for the cause of action to be sounded in medical malpractice. As J.B. had no direct relationship, as a patient or otherwise, with the hospital, the required privity did not exist.

Appellants further submit that J.B.'s injury did not arise from any "medical, dental or surgical diagnosis, treatment, or care" which defines a "claim for medical malpractice" in the Florida statutes and distinguishes a cause of action based on simple/ordinary negligence from the more particularized theory of medical malpractice.

Lastly, appellants argue that the District Court's decision was based on non-binding inapposite authority which can be easily distinguished from the case at bar. The recently decided *Silva* case is directly on point as to what type of action constitutes medical malpractice. Based on the above, the appellants respectfully request that this Honorable Court respond to both questions posed by the 11th Circuit in the negative; that is, neither Fla. Statutes, Sect. 95.11(4)(b) nor Chapter 766 of the Florida Statutes apply to the case at bar.

### **ARGUMENT**

Appellants submit that a careful reading of the pertinent Florida Statutes including the statute of limitations for malpractice actions, the Florida Medical Malpractice Statute and the below cited jurisprudence reveals that the appellants' claim herein is not based on medical malpractice as defined in the statutes mentioned above, but on the theory of ordinary negligence. As such, appellants' suit should not have been dismissed in order to comply with the pre-suit screening process required of Florida medical malpractice actions.

In the District Court's December 17, 1991, Order (R1-18), Judge Roger Vinson, stated that:

For purposes of this Order, I consider only the application of Florida's Medical Malpractice statutes to the plaintiffs' claim in this case.

Succinctly stated, plaintiffs' claim a wrongful exposure to an infectious disease (AIDS) brought about by the defendant hospital's failure to adequately warn plaintiff, J.B., a non-patient who had volunteered to transport his patient-brother by private vehicle from the defendant hospital to another hospital, that his brother was suffering from AIDS. There are no reported Florida cases that addressed this specific issue, and I have found no authorities directly on point. (R1-18-1).

Despite the lack of direct authority, the District Court, basing its decision on inapposite

jurisprudence in New York and California, concluded that:

"Plaintiff's claim in this case is controlled by Chapter 766, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, and plaintiffs must comply with the pre-suit screening procedures set out in Chapter 766. Such compliance is a prerequisite to filing suit." (R1-18-3).

It is from this conclusion that Appellants seek review.

Section 95.11(4)(a) and (b) of the Florida Statutes sets out a two year statute of limitations for professional malpractice and medical malpractice actions respectively. Both sections require "privity" between the petitioner and the professional/health care provider. Section 95.11(4)(b) also defines what type of conduct constitutes "an action for medical malpractice":

A claim in tort or in contract for damages because of the death, injury, or monetary loss to any person arising out of any <u>medical</u>, <u>dental</u>, <u>or surgical</u> <u>diagnosis</u>, <u>treatment</u>, <u>or care</u> by any provider of health care. The limitation of actions within this subsection shall be limited to the health care provider and persons <u>in privity</u> with the provider of health care. (Emphasis added).

A similar definition for a "claim for medical malpractice" is found in the Florida Medical Malpractice Statutes, Section 766.106(1)(a):

"A claim for medical malpractice means a claim arising out of <u>the rendering</u> of, or the failure to render, medical care or services." (Emphasis added).

Therefore, under these definitions, it is imperative to review the relationship or privity between the appellants and the appellee health care provider.

Appellants submit that since J.B. did not receive any type of "diagnosis, treatment or care" as defined above, he lacked the necessary "privity" with Sacred Heart Hospital in order for his claim to fall under the definition of medical malpractice. The definitions of professional malpractice [95.11(4)(a)] and medical malpractice [95.11(4)(b)] both require "privity" between the claimant and the professional and/or the health care provider. Although there is little authority explaining the type of privity/relationship that is required between the plaintiff and the health care provider, four Florida cases shed some light on this issue: *Silva v. Southwest Florida Blood Bank*, 601 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 1992); *Baskerville and Donovan v. Pensacola Executive House*, 581 So. 2d 1301 (Fla. 1991); *Durden v. American* 

Hospital Supply Corporation, 375 So. 2d 1096 (Fla. App. 3rd Dist. 1979), cert. denied, 386 So. 2d 633 (Fla. 1980); and Buchanan v. Lieberman, 526 So. 2d 969 (Fla. App. 5th Dist. 1988).

The exact definition of a "claim in medical malpractice" and its meaning has been interpreted by the Florida Supreme Court in the recent case of *Silva v. Southwest Florida Blood Bank, supra*. In *Silva*, the plaintiffs sued on behalf of patients who contracted the AIDS virus as a result of the transfusions of blood and blood products from the defendant blood bank. The trial court dismissed the claims against the blood bank as barred by the expiration of Florida's two-year statute of limitations <u>for medical malpractice claims</u>. An appellate court affirmed the district court's decision. The Florida Supreme Court reversed, holding that the actions of the blood bank were governed by the state's four-year statute of limitations <u>for ordinary negligence claims</u>. In the Court's opinion, the malpractice statute of limitation did not apply because <u>the blood bank did not provide "diagnosis, treatment, or care" to the patients</u> as required by the applicable Florida statutory definition. The Court explained that there was no

ambiguity to clarify in the words 'diagnosis,' 'treatment,' or 'care,' and we find that these words should be accorded their plain and unambiguous meaning. In ordinary, common parlance, the average person would understand 'diagnosis, treatment or care' to mean ascertaining a patient's <u>medical condition</u> through examination and testing, prescribing and administering a course of action to effect a cure, and meeting <u>the patient's daily needs</u> during the illness. <u>Id</u>. at 1187. (Emphasis added).

Therefore, since the plaintiffs did not receive any diagnosis, treatment or care from the defendant blood bank, their claims were not governed by the Florida medical malpractice law.

This case clearly illustrates that the Florida Supreme Court distinguishes between someone who receives "diagnosis, treatment or care," such as patient L.B., and someone who does not, such as J.B. Employing the definitions set out above, J.B.'s claim is not based on the negligence of the appellee hospital in ascertaining his medical condition through examination and testing, prescribing and administering a course of action to effect a cure, and meeting his daily needs during the illness. In short, J.B.'s cause of action is based on ordinary negligence and is not a "claim for medical malpractice" as defined in the Florida statutes and interpreted by the Florida Supreme Court.

For a very similar case, see also: *Sweeney v. Presbyterian/Columbia Medical Center*, 763 F. Supp. 50 (S.D.N.Y. 1991) (where the complaint, which alleged that the plaintiff was transfused with HIV infected blood, was based on ordinary negligence principles, not medical malpractice, because it challenged the hospital's distribution procedures and not any medical decisions concerning <u>the patient's</u> treatment).

In the *Baskerville* case, *supra*, a condominium association brought an action against an engineering corporation ("corporation") alleging that an engineering report prepared by the corporation misrepresented the actual condition of a roof. The corporation filed for a Summary Judgment under 95.11(4)(a) based on the association's failure to file within the two year statute of limitations. The Circuit Court agreed with the petitioner but the Appellant Court subsequently reversed on the grounds that there was no direct privity between the parties as required by Section 95.11(4)(a). The Florida Supreme Court affirmed and held that the "privity" must mean <u>direct privity</u> for purposes of Section 95.11(4)(a). Appellants would like to reiterate that the use of the word "privity" in

95.11(4)(a) parallels its use in 95.11(4)(b), the medical malpractice statute of limitation. <u>More importantly, the Florida Supreme Court stated that the term "privity" as used in</u> <u>Section 95.11(4)(b), regarding medical malpractice actions, means direct contractual privity.</u> *Id.* at 1303. The Court went on and explained that:

Third party beneficiary principles have been employed recently in tort law to expand liability where a duty of care exists between a third party and a professional, again despite the lack of direct contractual privity. However, this Court has clearly distinguished between privity and duty of care as separate means of proving a professional's liability. Clearly, privity between the parties may create a duty of care providing the basis for recovery and negligence. ...Thus, we conclude that the legislature intended privity in Section 95.11(4)(a), to apply only to malpractice suits where direct privity is found to exist. Id. at 1303-1304. (Emphasis added).

Therefore, without direct privity, parties are not governed by Section 95.11(4)(a) regarding professional malpractice. Appellants' submit that, as this Honorable Court noted, this is also true regarding Section 95.11(4)(b) concerning medical malpractice.

The definition for a "claim for medical malpractice" is again interpreted in the *Durden* case, *supra*. In *Durden*, an action was brought by a seller of blood, who contracted hepatitis, and his wife against the operator of a blood donor center. The Circuit Court dismissed the complaint with prejudice as being barred by limitations, and plaintiffs appealed. The issue presented for the Court of Appeal's determination was whether the two-year statute of limitations for medical malpractice, Section 95.11(4)(b), was applicable or the four-year limitation for general negligence actions pursuant to Section 95.11(3)(a).

After citing the same passage of Section 95.11(4)(b) as cited by the appellants above, the Third Circuit explained that in:

construing Section 95.11(4)(b) in its plain and ordinary sense, it is apparent that more than just the fact that a party defendant is a health care provider is required to bring a cause of action within this two year statute of limitations. In addition, the claim for damages must arise as a <u>result of</u> <u>medical</u>, <u>dental or surgical diagnosis</u>, treatment or care on the part of the <u>health care provider</u>. The relationship contemplated by the subject statute of limitation is in the nature of <u>doctor (dentist) - patient or hospital - patient</u> in contrast to the vendor-vendee relationship in the case at bar. Durden's third amended complaint is grounded upon allegations of <u>ordinary negligence</u> and, therefore, the four year statute of limitations, Section 95.11(3)(a), Florida Statutes (1977), is applicable. *Id*. at 1099. (Emphasis added).

Since there was no hospital/patient relationship between the parties, the plaintiffs' action

could not be dismissed under the medical malpractice prescriptive period, but fell within the

four-year prescriptive period afforded to all causes of action based on negligence.

The Buchanan case, supra, concerns a patient who was sexually assaulted in her

doctor's office. Although this case involves an intentional battery, the opinion of the Court

is helpful in the case at bar:

An isolated reading of that statutory section [Section 768.45, Florida Statutes (1977) currently Section 766.102 Florida Statutes (1988)] could lead one to assume it was thereby intended to include every type, nature and description of negligence by a health care provider. However, read in context with other statutory and rule provisions applicable to medical liability mediation, it is clear to us that the legislative intent was to submit to medical liability mediation only claims arising out of those acts or conduct which are peculiarly malpractice when committed by a medical or osteopath physician, pediatrist. hospital, or health maintenance organization. Id. at 971. Citing Zobac v. Southeastern Hospital, 382 So. 2d 829, 830-831 (Fla. App. 4th Dist. 1980).

Therefore, the plaintiff's cause of action was not sounded in medical malpractice for purposes of applying the medical malpractice statutes.

Applying the above cited Florida cases to the case *sub judice*, it is clear that J.B. did not receive any "diagnosis, treatment or care"; and therefore, does not enjoy the type of privity with Sacred Heart Hospital that is required for his claim to fall under the Florida Medical Malpractice laws. J.B. had no connection with the appellee hospital except as that of a brother of a diagnosed AIDS patient that was being treated there. The appellee hospital's negligence did not arise from its failure to render medical care or services to J.B. because, as a non-patient, he did not need medical care. Appellee cleverly attempts to disguise this fact by previously arguing that J.B.'s cause of action is inextricably connected with the "diagnosis, treatment and care" that the appellee provided to L.B. by allowing him to be transported by his brother. In short, J.B.'s cause of action has no connection to any claim L.B.'s heirs could bring for improper diagnosis, treatment or care.

Except for those cases cited above, appellants have found no other Florida cases or authorities directly on point; however, appellants respectfully submit additional authority from other jurisdictions as persuasive.

In *Hutchinson v. Patel*, 1993 WL 255484 (La. App. 1st Cir., July 8, 1993), the plaintiff, a non-patient third-party (like J.B.), brought an action against a psychiatrist for his failure to warn her of a patient's potential violent behavior. The Court stated that because this cause of action <u>does not involve the medical care or treatment of a patient</u>, it is not covered under the Louisiana Medical Malpractice Act.

Bradshaw v. Daniel, 854 S.W. 2d 865 (Tn. 1993), provides another case which is strikingly simailar to the one at bar. In Bradshaw, an action was brought alleging the defendant physician failed to warn a non-patient, third party family member of the risks of

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