SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. 82,147

J.B. AND J.W.B. INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF THEIR MINOR CHILDREN, S.B. AND E.B. AND M.B., INDIVIDUALLY

Appellants

VERSUS

SACRED HEART HOSPITAL OF PENSACOLA

Appelee

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES 11TH CIRCUIT COURT OF APPEALS

CIRCUIT NO. 92-2053

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, SACRED HEART HOSPITAL OF PENSACOLA

> KAREN O. EMMANUEL Florida Bar No. 344761 EMMANUEL, SHEPPARD & CONDON 30 South Spring Street P. O. Drawer 1271 Pensacola, FL 32596 Telephone No. (904) 433-6581 Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs' Complaint in this proceeding alleges a claim against Sacred Heart Hospital, a health care provider, based on the alleged failure of the Hospital to exercise the degree of care, skill, and diligence required under the prevailing professional standards of care. Accordingly, the Complaint falls within the provisions of Chapter 766, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, as well as the limitations period prescribed in Section 95.11(4)(b), <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1989). The claim as stated in the Complaint alleges an "action for medical malpractice," as that term is defined in §95.11(4)(b), as it is a claim in tort for damages because of the injury to the Plaintiffs arising out of medical diagnosis, treatment or care by Sacred Heart Hospital.

Since the Plaintiffs' claim in this case is controlled by Chapter 766, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, the Plaintiffs are required to comply with the pre-suit screening procedures set forth in Chapter 766. Such compliance is a prerequisite to filing suit. Inasmuch as the Plaintiffs failed to do so, the District Court's dismissal of the Complaint, without prejudice, in order that the Plaintiffs might comply with the filing prerequisites of Chapter 766, <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>, was proper.

Based on the foregoing, this Court should respond affirmatively to both questions certified by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, since Section 95.11(4)(b) and Chapter 766 are both applicable to Plaintiffs' cause of action.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COMPLAINT HEREIN, WHICH ALLEGES INJURIES TO THE BROTHER OF A HOSPITAL PATIENT ALLEGEDLY ARISING OUT OF THE DEFENDANT HOSPITAL'S FAILURE TO WARN THE PLAINTIFF BROTHER OF THE PATIENT'S INFECTIOUS DISEASE, FAILURE TO PROPERLY INSTRUCT THE PLAINTIFF REGARDING TRANSPORTATION OF THE PATIENT, AND NEGLIGENTLY USING THE NON-PATIENT BROTHER AS A TRANSPORTER FOR THE PATIENT FALLS WITHIN §95.11(4)(b), <u>FLORIDA STATUTES</u>, THE TWO YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR MEDICAL MALPRACTICE ACTIONS.

A review of the Complaint in this proceeding can leave no doubt that Plaintiffs' claim is an "action for medical malpractice," as that term is defined in §95.11(4)(b), Florida <u>Statutes</u>. That Section, which sets forth the statute of limitations period for medical malpractice actions, contains the following definition:

An "action for medical malpractice" is defined as a claim in tort or in contract for damages because of the death, injury, or monetary loss to any person arising out of any medical, dental, or surgical diagnosis, treatment, or care by any provider of health care. §95.11(4)(b), Fla. Stat. (1989).

Appellee makes no contention herein that §95.11(4)(b), <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>, is intended to apply to anyone asserting any type of claim against a health care provider, and recognizes that there are instances in which a claim may be asserted against a health care provider, but still remain outside the medical malpractice statutes. For example, <u>Buchanan v. Lieberman</u>, 526 So.2d 969 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) involved a physician who allegedly committed an intentional battery in his office on a patient by fondling the patient and forcibly kissing her. The Court in <u>Buchanan</u> found that the complaint did not involve medical malpractice, for purposes of applying the medical malpractice statute of limitations. Likewise,

in the case of <u>Zobac v. Southeastern Hospital District</u>, 382 So.2d 829 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), the court stated that medical malpractice means a "dereliction from professional duty or a failure of professional skill or learning that results in injury, loss or damage... and does not include janitorial negligence, for example, or a breach of duty in maintaining the hospital grounds generally required of possessors of land." 382. So.2d at 830-831. The court went on to equate malpractice to "the departure from a standard of care required of professionals." 382 So.2d at 831.

However, in the instant case, the Plaintiffs are clearly alleging in their Complaint that Sacred Heart Hospital departed from the prevailing standard of care in connection with the discharge and transport of the patient, L.B. The Complaint alleges that the Plaintiff, J.B., was not trained nor able to transport an individual in need of medical care and treatment, but that the Hospital "recognized the technical care L.B. would need in the transportation... " and "recognized the foreseeability of the risk...". R1-2-3. The Complaint also states that the Hospital gave the Plaintiff, J.B., technical instructions in the care of L.B. in the event the Heparin lock came loose or started to bleed. Id. These allegations can only be interpreted as charging the Defendant with a failure of professional skill or learning that has allegedly resulted in injury to the Plaintiff, a departure from the prevailing standard of care required by the Hospital, as a health care provider. The Plaintiffs have in essence charged the Hospital with a breach of its duty as a Hospital. Clearly, such charges of

breach of this type of alleged duty could not be made against a non-health care provider, since there would exist <u>no duty</u> in such case. In effect, Plaintiffs are attempting to charge a breach of professional duty (i.e., medical malpractice), but seek the benefit of the statutory provisions governing common negligence. Such a result cannot be permitted under applicable law.

While not specifically addressing the issues raised herein, the Florida case of Hofmann v. Blackmon, 241 So.2d 752 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970) is instructive. In that case, the court held that a physician owes a duty to use reasonable care to advise and warn members of a patient's immediate family of the existence and dangers of a contagious disease. No such duty would arise but for the physician's status as a medical professional, with the skill and training to diagnose the disease and to instruct the family regarding precautionary measures to be taken. Clearly, a lay person would not have such a duty inasmuch as he would not have the professional skill and training to create such а duty. Consequently, allegations of breach of such professional duty necessarily fall within the definition of professional (medical) malpractice.

One should also take note of the language of §95.11(4)(b), which defines a medical malpractice action as one "arising out of any medical... diagnosis, treatment or care...." In the instant case, the claim <u>arises out of</u> the alleged failure to properly "care" for or "treat" the patient L.B. in connection with his discharge and transfer to another facility, as well as the alleged

failure to "care" for the plaintiff J.B., by failing to warn him about his brother's condition, to instruct him as to proper transport and proper care for the patient, and by using his as a transporter.

Appellants argue that J.B. did not have the necessary "privity" with Sacred Heart Hospital for his claim to be considered one for professional malpractice. However, it should first be noted that there is no requirement of privity, nor of a physicianpatient relationship, found in the definition of an "action for medical malpractice" in Section 95.11(4)(b), <u>Florida Statutes</u>. Further, Plaintiff misconstrues the provision regarding privity found in §95.11(4)(b). The applicable provision therein states as follows:

The limitation of action within this subsection shall be limited to the health care provider and persons in privity with the provider of health care. §95.11(4)(b), Fla. Stat. (1989).

Clearly, the <u>definition</u> of an action for medical malpractice does not contain a requirement of privity. The statute merely states that the two-year <u>limitations</u> <u>period</u> only applies to those in privity.

The section was interpreted in the case of <u>Taddiken v. Florida</u> <u>Patient's Compensation Fund</u>, 449 So.2d 956 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984). In that case, the court held that the two-year statute of limitations for medical malpractice applies to a lawsuit brought against the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund. The plaintiff argued that the two-year statute of limitations provision did not apply, but that the claim was one for negligence, governed by a four-year

limitation period. The Fund argued that the two-year limitation provision under §95.11(4)(b), <u>Florida Statutes</u>, was applicable, since the Fund was in privity with the health care provider alleged to have committed malpractice on the plaintiff. In its ruling, the court stated as follows:

There is no definition of privity which can be applied in all cases, ... and in fact, the meaning will vary according to the purpose for which the theory is invoked. Generally, however, privity refers to a mutual or successive relationship to the same right. Osborn v. <u>Strickel</u>, 187 So.2d 89 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966). In the instant case, there is a mutuality of interest which exists between a health care provider and the Fund which extends to the lawsuit itself, the alleged claims of medical malpractice and the damages claimed. ... Thus, we hold that the Florida Patient's Compensations Fund is in privity with the health care provider so that the twoyear statute of limitations provision is applicable. Accord Owens; Burr. 449 So.2d at 957-958.

Thus in <u>Taddiken</u>, the court made no finding that the plaintiff was in privity with the Fund; yet, the court found the two-year medical malpractice statute of limitations applied to the Fund.

In the instant case, the Plaintiff, J.B., dealt <u>face to face</u> with the defendant health care providers. Indeed, Plaintiffs allege that due to this relationship, Plaintiff, J.B., was owed a duty of care by Defendant Sacred Heart Hospital. There is no requirement that the plaintiff must be a patient to be in privity with the health care provider, within the meaning of privity found in §95.11(4)(b), <u>Florida Statutes</u>.

While Plaintiffs place much reliance on the case of Baskerville-Donovan Engineers, Inc. v. Pensacola Executive House Condominium Association, 581 So.2d 1301 (Fla. 1991), that case was not one involving medical malpractice, nor the construction of $\S95.11(4)(b)$, but rather was a case involving alleged professional malpractice against an engineering corporation. In that case, the plaintiff condominium association had <u>no communication or contact</u> <u>whatsoever</u> with the defendant engineers, but rather based its claim on an allegedly negligent report prepared by the defendant for a third party, and later supplied by this third party to the plaintiff association. In that case, the court construed the meaning of \$95.11(4)(a), <u>Florida Statutes</u>, the limitations period for bringing professional malpractice actions other than medical malpractice. For purposes of that section, the court held that privity referred only to direct contractual privity.

However, the provisions regarding privity in 95.11(4)(a), <u>Florida Statutes</u>, and 95.11(4)(b) are not identical, nor have they been interpreted by the courts in the same manner. The provision of medical diagnosis, treatment, or care is often rendered to patients and non-patients who have no direct contractual privity with the health care provider. Accepting the Plaintiff's arguments as correct, an individual who receives medical treatment in an emergency situation at a health care facility with no prior contractual arrangement with the health care provider would not be bound by the statute of limitations contained in 95.11(4)(b). Further, to accept the Appellant's argument would awkwardly and illogically permit two different periods to apply to the same alleged underlying medical malpractice - both the patient and his brother were involved in the same clinical situation.

The Appellants also cite the case of <u>Silva v. Southwest</u> <u>Florida Blood Bank, Inc.</u>, 601 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 1992). However, the <u>Silva</u> case is not dispositive of the issues raised in this case. The Supreme Court in <u>Silva</u> found the four-year statute of limitations for negligence to apply, rather than the two-year medical malpractice statute, on the basis that the blood bank was not a "provider of health care" as that term is used in §95.11(4) (b), and that further the blood bank did not render "diagnosis, treatment, or care" to the plaintiff.

In its decision, the court in Silva provided definitions of the words "diagnosis," "treatment," and "care," and stated that "care" means "provide for or attend to needs or perform necessary personal services (as for a patient or a child)." The court noted an additional definition of "care" to be "the application of knowledge to the benefit of...[an] individual." 601 So.2d at 1184. In the instant case, taking the allegations of the Complaint on their face, Plaintiffs have alleged a breach by the Hospital in its "care" of J.B., and the allegations clearly state that the Hospital negligently provided for or attended to the needs of J.B. in connection with the transport of his brother. The complaint further alleges a breach of the Hospital's duty of care to L.B., in that the Hospital allegedly provided an inappropriate mode of transport and transferred the patient with a Heparin lock in his The essence of Plaintiffs' complaint is that the Hospital arm. negligently applied or failed to apply its professional knowledge for the benefit of L.B. and J.B. Accordingly, Plaintiffs must be

bound by the two-year statute of limitations governing medical malpractice actions.

The Appellants also rely on the case of <u>Durden v. American</u> <u>Hospital Supply Corporation</u>, 375 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979). However, again, the distinguishing factor in that case is that the court found that the claim did not arise as a result of any medical, dental or surgical diagnosis, treatment or care on the part of the health care provider. The court found that the plaintiff sold his blood to the defendant blood donor center, and that there was no medical, dental or surgical diagnosis, treatment or care rendered by the blood donor center to the plaintiff.

Other cases cited by the Appellants are inapposite to the case at hand. For example, in Johnson v. West Virginia University Hospitals, 413 S.E.2d 889 (W.Va. 1991), the court entered a very narrow ruling holding that damages for emotional distress may be recovered by a plaintiff against a hospital based upon a plaintiff's fear of contracting AIDS, if the plaintiff is not an employee of the hospital but has a duty to assist hospital personnel in dealing with a patient affected with AIDS; the patient's fear is reasonable; the AIDS-infected patient physically injures the plaintiff and such physical injury causes the plaintiff to be exposed to AIDS; and the hospital has failed to follow a regulation which requires it to warn the plaintiff of the facts that the patient has AIDS, despite the elapse of sufficient time to 413 S.E.2d at 894. The court specifically limited its warn. holding to the facts before it. Clearly, the facts in this case

present a completely different scenario than those in the Johnson case. Further, that case specifically interpreted the law of West Virginia regarding a cause of action for negligent infliction of emotional stress, which is not before the court here.

In <u>Heigert v. Reidel</u>, 565 N.E.2d 60 (Ill. App. 5. Dist. 1990), the court applied Illinois law regarding the scope of a physician's duty in medical malpractice actions. The court found that, based upon its prior holdings and applicable Illinois statutes, a plaintiff cannot maintain a medical malpractice action absent a direct physician-patient relationship between the doctor and plaintiff or a special relationship ... between the patient and the plaintiff." 565 N.E.2d at 64-65. Of course, Florida's medical malpractice legislation is not identical to that of Illinois, and there are no provisions in Florida law which require a direct physician-patient relationship in order to bring a medical malpractice action. Arguably, however, the Illinois provision which permits a claim by non-patients who have a "special relationship" with the patient could apply in this instance, in that the Plaintiffs have alleged a relationship between the patient and his brother, J.B., which allegedly gave rise to a duty by the Hospital which extended to the non-patient brother.

Also cited by the Appellants is the Louisiana case of <u>Guidry</u> <u>v. Garrett</u>, 591 So.2d 806 (La. Ct. App. 1991), which construed a Louisiana statute defining medical malpractice as "... any unintentional tort...based on health care or professional services rendered...by a health care provider, <u>to a patient</u>. ... " Again,

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